Firefighter Exam

DUMMIES

Learn to:

- Master reading comprehension, math, principles of mechanics, tool usage and recognition, and more
- Score your highest on the Candidate Physical Ability Test (CPAT)
- Make the most of test time with six practice exams
- Conquer test anxiety and boost confidence



Tracey Biscontini

Making Everything Easier!™

Firefighter Exam DUMMIES

Learn to:

- Master reading comprehension, math. principles of mechanics, tool usage and recognition, and more
- Score your highest on the Candidate Physical Ability Test (CPAT)
- Make the most of test time with six practice exams
- Conquer test anxiety and boost confidence



Tracey Biscontini

Firefighter Exam For Dummies[®]

Visit

www.dummies.com/cheatsheet/firefighterexa m to view this book's cheat sheet.

Table of Contents

Introduction

About This Book
Conventions Used in This Book
Foolish Assumptions
How This Book Is Organized

Part I: So You Want to Be a Firefighter? Get

Ready!

Part II: Gearing Up to Take the Test: The

Written Exam

Part III: Demonstrating Physical, Mental, and

Emotional Fitness with Interactive Tests

Part IV: Practice Firefighter Exams

Part V: The Part of Tens

Icons Used in This Book
Where to Go from Here

Part I: So You Want to Be a Firefighter? Get Ready!

<u>Chapter 1: Getting the Lowdown on the Job of Firefighter</u>

<u>Understanding What It's Like to Be a</u> <u>Firefighter</u>

Knowing your role
Looking at shifts: Timing is everything
Picturing your work environment
Considering risks on the job
Handling the highs and lows

From Firefighter to Fire Chief: Climbing the Fire Department Ladder

Starting on the bottom rung
Moving to middle management
Becoming the top dog

Finding Firefighters: Who They Work For

In the public sector
In the private sector

<u>Predicting the Future: How Many Firefighting</u> Jobs Will There Be?

<u>Chapter 2: Throwing Your Hat in the Ring:</u>
<u>Applying to Be a Firefighter</u>

Finding and Applying for a Job

<u>Understanding job requirements</u>

Obtaining information about the exam and the position
Filling out the application
Submitting resumes, cover letters, and references
Noting special considerations

The Road to Landing a Firefighter Job

The written exam
The physical ability test
The oral interview
The medical exam
The psychological evaluation

<u>Chapter 3: Preparing Yourself for the Firefighter Exam</u>

Getting Familiar with the Written Exam

Test format

Question topics

Tips for the written exam

<u>Preparing for the Non-Written Tests</u>

1, 2, 3, lift: Prepping for the physical test
You don't say: Prepping for the oral
test/interview
Keeping it clean: Prepping for the
background check
Take a deep breath: Prepping for the
medical test

<u>Don't psych yourself out: Prepping for the psychological test</u>

Part II: Gearing Up to Take the Test: The Written Exam

<u>Chapter 4: Showing Off Your Reading and Verbal Comprehension</u>

Getting an Overview of the Reading and Verbal Comprehension Component

What is a reading passage, anyway? Tuning in to the listening portion

Processing What You Read and Hear

Scanning the questions first
Noting important details
Figuring out the main idea

Answering Different Types of Questions

Finding-details questions

Determining-the-main-idea questions

Questions about new words

Questions that use NOT or EXCEPT

Drawing-conclusions questions

Questions about charts and tables

Practice Reading and Verbal Comprehension
Questions
Answers and Explanations

Chapter 5: Mastering Verbal Expression

Acing Vocabulary Questions

Choosing the correct synonym Looking for context clues

Acing Spelling Questions

Remembering spelling rules

Mastering commonly misspelled words

Acing Grammar Questions

Choosing the correct verb tense
Choosing an agreeable answer: Subjectverb agreement
Choosing the correct pronoun (or
pronoun-like adjective)
Navigating space and time: Prepositions
Using the right adjective: Is it good,
better, or best?

<u>Practice Verbal Expression Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Chapter 6: Testing Your Observation and Memory</u>

Watching Out for Observation and Memory Questions

Observing diagrams and other images

Reading the words accompanying an image
Reading and recalling written information

<u>Developing Great Observational Skills</u>

Covering space: How to observe using a pattern

Covering topics: How to observe using

Covering topics: How to observe using memory devices

Handling Questions Involving Recall

Answering questions about visual material

Answering questions about written material

<u>Practice Observation and Memory Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Chapter 7: Sizing Up Your Spatial Orientation</u> <u>Skills</u>

Getting from Place to Place with Spatial
Orientation
Answering Questions about Maps and Floor
Plans

Noting the details
Reading the question and tracing the route
Choosing the correct answer

<u>Practice Spatial Orientation Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Chapter 8: Making Decisions Based on Reasoning and Judgment</u>

<u>Applying Reasoning and Judgment to</u> <u>Firefighting</u>

Answering questions about firefighting operations
Answering questions about interpersonal relations
Answering questions about following procedures
Answering questions about public relations
Answering questions about logical reasoning

<u>Practice Reasoning and Judgment Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Chapter 9: Performing Mathematical Calculations</u>

<u>Laying Out Basic Rules and Reminders</u>

<u>Working with Units of Measurement</u>

<u>Parts of the Whole: Breaking Down Common</u>

<u>Math Concepts</u>

<u>Piecing together fractions</u> <u>Gimme tenths! Working with decimals</u> <u>Out of 100: Using percentages</u>

Solving Algebraic Equations

Keeping the balance: Basic algebraic
equations
You've got the power! Properties of
exponents
Coming to terms with FOIL: Multiplying
binomials
Comparing things with fractions: Ratios
and proportions

Shaping Up Your Geometry Skills
Making Sense of Word Problems
Practice Mathematics Problems
Answers and Explanations

<u>Chapter 10: Mechanical Aptitude: Knowing the</u> Nuts and Bolts of Machines

Tinkering with Tools

Common handheld tools Forcible entry tools

Mechanical Devices

Looking at levers
Ramping up your effort with inclined planes
Turning to wheels and axles
Perusing pulleys
Sinking your teeth into gears
Stretching out with springs

Sorting out screws

<u>Practice Mechanical Aptitude Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Chapter 11: Acing the National Firefighter</u> <u>Selection Inventory Test</u>

Checking Out What's on the NFSI Assessing Your Cognitive Skills

Testing your verbal comprehension
Examining your verbal expression skills
Appreciating problem sensitivity
questions
Applying deductive reasoning
Drawing conclusions with inductive
reasoning
Making sense of information ordering
Measuring mathematical reasoning
Navigating number facility questions

Showing Off Your Personality Attributes

Evaluating your coping skills: Stress tolerance
Playing well with others: Team orientation Looking at what gets you going:
Motivation/attitude

<u>Practice NFSI Questions</u> <u>Answers and Explanations</u>

<u>Part III: Demonstrating Physical, Mental, and</u> Emotional Fitness with Interactive Tests

<u>Chapter 12: Show Them What You Can Do:</u>
<u>Passing the Physical Exam</u>

<u>Let's Get Physical: The Whys and Wherefores</u> <u>of Physical Exams</u>

Why you have to take a physical exam How a physical exam works Getting the lowdown on the local test

Acing the Physical Exam: A Closer Look at a Standardized PAT

Before the test
During the test
After the test

<u>Chapter 13: Acing Your Oral Interview</u>

<u>Preparing for the Interview</u> <u>Putting Your Best Self Forward</u>

Knowing what to expect during the interview
Answering typical interview questions

Following Up After the Interview

<u>Chapter 14: Knowing What to Expect During</u> <u>Medical and Psychological Testing</u>

<u>Understanding What Happens During the</u> Medical Exam

Putting your heart to the test

<u>Catching your breath: Lung tests</u>

Giving some fluids: Blood and urine tests

Checking your organs

Now see here: Examining eyes and ears

Walk this way: Monitoring muscular and

skeletal disorders

Getting a onceover for glandular and

gastrointestinal disorders

<u>Understanding What Happens During the Psychological Exam</u>

Completing the personality questionnaire Interviewing with a psychologist

Part IV: Practice Firefighter Exams

Chapter 15: Practice Exam 1

Chapter 16: Practice Exam 1: Answers and

Explanations

Chapter 17: Practice Exam 2

Chapter 18: Practice Exam 2: Answers and

Explanations

Chapter 19: Practice Exam 3

Chapter 20: Practice Exam 3: Answers and

Explanations

Chapter 21: Practice Exam 4: The National

Firefighter Selection Inventory (NFSI)

<u>Chapter 22: Practice Exam 4: Answers and Explanations</u>

Part V: The Part of Tens

<u>Chapter 23: Ten Ways to Improve Your Chances of Getting Hired</u>

Be Prepared
Visit Local Fire Departments
Volunteer
Maintain a Clean Background
Enroll in Some Firefighting Classes
Identify Where You Want to Work
Apply at Multiple Locations
Practice for Perfection
Take the Exam More than Once
Stay Focused

<u>Chapter 24: Ten Things Every Firefighter Should</u> <u>Do</u>

Show Respect for the Job
Demonstrate Integrity
Be a Team Player
Check Your Gear
Display Leadership Qualities
Find a Work/Home Balance
Ask Questions
Respect Your Superiors
Be Flexible
Have Fun

<u>Appendix: Observation and Memory Exercises</u>

Cheat Sheet

Firefighter Exam For Dummies®

by Stacy L. Bell, Tracey Vasil Biscontini, and Lindsay Rock



Firefighter Exam For Dummies®

Published by
Wiley Publishing, Inc.
111 River St.
Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774
www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2011 by Wiley Publishing, Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the

Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, the Wiley Publishing logo, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, A Reference for the Rest of Us!, The Dummies Way, Dummies Daily, The Fun and Easy Way, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and other countries, and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. Wiley Publishing, Inc., is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: The publisher and the author make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation warranties of fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales or promotional materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for every situation. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in

rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services. If professional assistance is required, the services of a competent professional person should be sought. Neither the publisher nor the author shall be liable for damages arising herefrom. The fact that an organization or Website is referred to in this work as a citation and/or a potential source of further information does not mean that the author or the publisher endorses the information the organization or Website may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that Internet Websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002.

For technical support, please visit www.wiley.com/techsupport.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010941509

ISBN: 978-0-470-76946-1

Manufactured in the United States of America



About the Authors

Stacy L. Bell is the executive vice president and coowner of Fire & Police Selection, Inc. (FPSI), a leading consulting firm that specializes in the development and validation of testing instruments used in the protective services industry. Stacy holds a bachelor's degree in psychology from California State University, Sacramento, and a master's degree in industrial/organizational psychology from Capella University.

Stacy is responsible for the test development and validation of all pre-employment and promotional products offered by FPSI, including written tests, physical ability tests, structured interviews, and personality inventories. She has 14 years' experience in providing selection tools to human resources and public safety departments across the country.

Stacy currently resides in beautiful Northern California. In her "spare time," Stacy enjoys spending time with her family, riding bikes, hiking, and being outdoors. When she's not mothering her 9-year-old son, she's mothering one of her two Golden Retrievers or her Bernese Mountain Dog.

Tracey Vasil Biscontini is the founder, president, and CEO of Northeast Editing, Inc., a company specializing in the creation of test-preparation products. She holds bachelor's degrees in education and mass

communications from King's College and a master's degree in English from the University of Scranton. Recently named one of the Top 25 Women in Business in Northeast Pennsylvania, she is a former educator, journalist, and newspaper columnist whose awardwinning writing has appeared in national magazines. Since founding Northeast Editing, Inc., in 1992, she has managed educational projects and authored test-preparation and library-reference content for some of the largest publishers in the United States.

Northeast Editing, Inc., is located in a former rectory in Jenkins Township, nestled between Wilkes-Barre and Scranton in northeastern Pennsylvania. Tracey's company boasts a relaxed work environment that serves as her staff's home away from home. When they're not hard at work, the editors and writers at Northeast Editing, Inc., enjoy breaks in a large backyard and welcome hugs from Prince, a stray cat that showed up one day and never left. Tracey lives in Avoca, Pennsylvania, with her husband, Nick; son, Tyler; and daughter, Morgan.

Lindsay Rock is a former volunteer firefighter with the Mt. Zion Bicentennial Volunteer Fire Department (MZFD) in Harding, Pennsylvania. She earned a certificate of attainment in Pennsylvania Essentials of Firefighting and completed a structural burn session at the Schuylkill Fire Training Center in Frackville, Pennsylvania, in 2004. In addition to proudly serving her community through the fire department, Lindsay wanted to prove that she could "keep up with the boys" — a brother, Nick, and an uncle, Seth, who also were firefighters. She briefly served as president of MZFD in 2005.

Lindsay is the managing editor of Northeast Editing, Inc., where she has written and edited test-preparation and

trade books since 2003. She holds a bachelor's degree in journalism with a minor in English from the Pennsylvania State University and is a member of Phi Beta Kappa, an academic honor society.

Lindsay currently resides in Exeter, Pennsylvania. She spends much of her free time continuing to prove that she can keep up with the boys. If she's not riding her bright yellow quad through the woods, you may find her on the golf course or watching Penn State and Pittsburgh Steelers football.

Dedication

To the men and women of the fire service — who put their lives on the line every day.

Authors' Acknowledgments

Special thanks to Tracy Boggier, our acquisitions editor, who got the ball rolling; Vicki Adang, our incredible project editor, who offered advice and guidance every step of the way; our wonderful copy editor, Danielle Voirol; and our technical editors, Chad Abel and Jeff Seaton.

Finally, more special thanks to everyone at Northeast Editing, Inc., who devoted countless hours of research and writing to help create this book.

Publisher's Acknowledgments

We're proud of this book; please send us your comments through our online registration form located at www.dummies.com/register/.

Some of the people who helped bring this book to market include the following:

Acquisitions, Editorial, and Media Development

Project Editor: Victoria M. Adang

Acquisitions Editor: Tracy Boggier

Senior Copy Editor: Danielle Voirol

Assistant Editor: David Lutton

Technical Editors: Chad Abel, Jeff Seaton

Editorial Manager: Michelle Hacker

Editorial Assistants: Rachelle S. Amick,

Jennette ElNaggar

Art Coordinator: Alicia B. South

Cover Photo: © iStockphoto.com/ryasick

Cartoons: Rich Tennant (<u>www.the5thwave.com</u>)

Composition Services

Project Coordinator: Patrick Redmond

Layout and Graphics: Carl Byers, Carrie A. Cesavice,

Joyce Haughey, Mark Pinto, Brent Savage

Proofreaders: Laura Albert, Betty Kish

Indexer: Estalita Slivoskey

Publishing and Editorial for Consumer Dummies

Diane Graves Steele, Vice President and Publisher, Consumer Dummies

Kristin Ferguson-Wagstaffe, Product Development Director, Consumer Dummies

Ensley Eikenburg, Associate Publisher, Travel

Kelly Regan, Editorial Director, Travel

Publishing for Technology Dummies

Andy Cummings, Vice President and Publisher, Dummies Technology/General User

Composition Services

Debbie Stailey, Director of Composition Services

Introduction

Chances are that if you're reading this book, you've thought about pursuing a career in the fire service. Good for you! Firefighting is an exhilarating career. Sure, it involves some risk, but for the most part, firefighters consider what they do honorable, rewarding, and essential for public safety. Firefighters rescue people from all manner of emergencies, including wildland fires, structure fires, floods, motor vehicle accidents, and more. They work to keep the public safe from harm.

Perhaps you want to become a firefighter because you like the thought of helping people each day. Maybe you like the idea of an ever-changing work environment or you want a job that keeps you active all the time. Whatever your reason, we applaud your choice and want to help you get hired.

The firefighter hiring process is unlike that of any other job. It's much more than a job application, a resume, and an interview. It involves numerous tests and evaluations designed to ensure that you're ready to begin training to become a firefighter. No need to worry. We wrote *Firefighter Exam For Dummies* for people just like you. Consider us the tour guides on your career path; we'll lead you from application to academy.

About This Book

The firefighter hiring process has many elements, including a number of exams, interviews, and evaluations, each pushing you one step closer to proving

that you have what it takes to begin firefighter training. Firefighter Exam For Dummies guides you through every step of the process with detailed descriptions and information.

This book begins with a general overview of what firefighters do and then moves on to the specifics of the exam process, including detailed chapters on each element of the written exam, the physical ability test, the oral interview, the medical exam, and the psychological evaluation. We provide four full-length practice tests to help you prepare for the written exam, as well as tips for interviewing and staying in shape.

Although this book is likely to catch the attention of career firefighter hopefuls, volunteers may benefit from the information, tips, and advice within its pages, too. Volunteers often have to undergo the same training as paid firefighters, and with the number of volunteer departments transitioning into paid fire companies on the rise, employment testing may change from "option" to "requirement." We're certain that if this occurs, *Firefighter Exam For Dummies* can help.

Conventions Used in This Book

The following conventions are used throughout the text to make things consistent and easy to understand:

We use the term *applicant* to refer to a person who applies for a firefighting job by signing up to take the written exam. We use the term *candidate* to

refer to a person who has been screened as qualified and invited to participate in the recruitment process.

- All Web addresses appear in monofont.
- New terms appear in italics and are closely followed by easy-to-understand definitions.
- ✓ Bold is used to highlight keywords in bulleted lists and the action parts of numbered steps.

Foolish Assumptions

Everyone knows what happens when you assume, but while writing this book, we decided to live dangerously and make the following assumptions about you:

- You're interested in becoming a firefighter, and you want to know more about the job and the hiring process.
- You want to take some firefighter practice tests so you know what to expect and where to focus your studying.
- You want to prepare yourself for each step of the firefighter hiring process to help ensure your chances of overall success.
- You understand that successfully completing all exams, interviews, and evaluations means that you qualify to *begin* training to become a firefighter. You know that actually rushing into burning buildings doesn't occur until after you've received

- extensive training at an academy or some other training program.
- You can read, speak, and understand the English language reasonably well. (Writers of firefighter exams assume this, too.) If you need to brush up on your vocabulary and grammar skills, you may want to review Chapter 5.

How This Book Is Organized

This book is divided into five parts and 24 chapters. The table of contents outlines the specifics, but the following is an overview of what you can expect to see.

Part I: So You Want to Be a Firefighter? Get Ready!

If you're curious to know exactly what firefighters do and where they work, or if you'd like to know more about the various exams you have to take to begin training to become a firefighter, turn to Part I. Chapter 1 explains a firefighter's typical duties and career path, and Chapters 2 and 3 describe the screening process and the exams.

Part II: Gearing Up to Take the Test: The Written Exam

If the written exam makes you a bit nervous, turn to Part II, where you find details about and practice questions for the various subject areas typically found on written firefighter exams.

Part III: Demonstrating Physical, Mental, and Emotional Fitness with Interactive Tests

If the physical ability test, oral interview, medical exam, or psychological evaluation has you stressed, open to Part III. Chapter 12 describes the elements of a physical ability test, Chapter 13 explains what to expect in the oral interview, and Chapter 14 presents an overview of the medical exam and psychological evaluation.

Part IV: Practice Firefighter Exams

Want to try your hand at taking a written firefighter exam? Part IV includes four practice exams, including two general exams, an exam based on the National Firefighter Selection Inventory test, and an exam based on the New York City Fire Department's written exam.

Part V: The Part of Tens

The Part of Tens is a standard element of *For Dummies* books. Chapter 23 contains some helpful tips for

succeeding on the various firefighter exams. Chapter 24 describes some things every firefighter (or future firefighter) should do.

Icons Used in This Book

To make this book easier to read and simpler to use, we include some icons that can help you find key ideas and information. Keep an eye out for them.

The Example icon draws your attention to sample questions and answers that help you understand the concept we're explaining.

This icon appears next to information that could benefit you during the various steps of the hiring process. This information can save you time and effort.

When you see this icon, you know the information that follows is especially important to the various firefighter exams.

This icon highlights information that could pose a threat to your success on the firefighter exams.

Where to Go from Here

The great thing about *For Dummies* books is that you can start wherever you want and still find complete information. Want to know how you'd perform on a written firefighter exam without any preparation? Open up to Chapter 15 and take a practice test. Then check your answers in Chapter 16 to see how well you did. Interested in what happens after you've passed the written test? Go to Chapters 12 to 14 to get the skinny on the non-written exams such as the oral interview and the physical ability test. The point is that you don't have to read this book from cover to cover. You can start wherever you think you need the most work.

If you're not sure where to start, we suggest Part I, which explains what firefighters do and where they work, along with a detailed description of the hiring process and an overview of the different exams.